UCLA

American Indian Culture and Research Journal

Title

Buffalo Tiger, Bobo Dean, and the “Young Turks”: A Miccosukee Prelude
to the 1975 Indian Self-Determination Act

Permalink
https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5zv30803
Journal

American Indian Culture and Research Journal , 29(1)

ISSN
0161-6463

Author
Kersey, Harry A., Jr.

Publication Date
2005

DOI
10.17953

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons
Attribution-NonCommercial License, availalbe at
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Peer reviewed

eScholarship.org Powered by the California Diqital Library

University of California


https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5zv30803
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/
https://escholarship.org
http://www.cdlib.org/

AMERICAN INDIAN CULTURE AND RESEARCH JOURNAL 29:1 (2005) 1-19

Buffalo Tiger, Bobo Dean, and the “Young

Turks”: A Miccosukee Prelude to the 1975
Indian Self-Determination Act

HARRY A. KERSEY JR.

On 12 June 1971 United States Commissioner of Indian Affairs Louis R. Bruce
journeyed to the Florida Everglades to meet with Miccosukee chairman
Buffalo Tiger and members of the tribal business council. The purpose of his
visit was to celebrate the signing of a contract on 14 May in Washington
between the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of
Florida, allowing the tribe to operate comprehensive social and educational
programs formerly administered exclusively by government bureaucrats.
Under the headline “Florida Indians Assume Own Rule,” the New York Times
reported, “The accord signed after six months of difficult negotiations, is the
first such agreement reached between an Indian tribe and the federal govern-
ment since President Nixon, in a 1970 message to Congress, announced that
he favored a policy of Indian Self-determination.”

Arguably this transaction placed the Miccosukee tribe in the vanguard of
the Indian self-determination movement. The following is an account of the
Miccosukees’ struggle to wrest control over their own economic destiny from
conservative elements within the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) and
Department of the Interior and is based heavily on recent interviews with
former Miccosukee tribal chairman Buffalo Tiger, who engineered the
groundbreaking agreement, and Washington attorney S. Bobo Dean, who
represented the tribe in the negotiations, as well as Bradley ]J. Patterson Jr., an
official in the Nixon administration who was intimately involved in framing
the president’s 1970 message.

Harry A. Kersey Jr. is professor emeritus of history at Florida Atlantic University in Boca
Raton, Florida. He is the author of seven books on the Seminoles and Miccosukees,
was a consultant to the tribes in various court cases, and served for a decade on the
Florida Governor’s Council on Indian Affairs, which advised the state’s chief executive
on policy matters affecting indigenous peoples. Kersey has been a Fulbright Scholar in
both Africa and New Zealand and is currently engaged in a comparative study of Maori
and American Indian sovereignty issues.
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BACKGROUND

Immediately following World War II there was intense pressure from a
Republican-controlled Congress to end the federal government’s historical
treaty obligations and other statutory commitments to the tribes. As a prelude
to terminating these relationships, Congress created the Indian Claims
Commission (ICC) in 1946. The ICC was to function for ten years and settle all
outstanding tribal economic claims as a precondition for getting the govern-
ment out of Indian affairs.? In 1953 the “termination era” was launched with
the passage of House Concurrent Resolution 108 (HCR), stating the sense of
Congress that tribes should “be freed from all Federal supervision and control
and from all disabilities and limitations specifically applicable to Indians” and
to “end the wardship status of the Indians and to grant them all of the rights
and prerogatives pertaining to American citizenship.”? Despite this language of
emancipation and equality, the goal was to dissolve the special relationship that
historically existed between the federal government and Indian tribes. Bills
were introduced terminating services for each of the tribes identified in HCR
108, and others were placed in potential jeopardy. Eventually, more than one
hundred tribes, bands, and California rancherias were terminated and lost
their status as sovereign communities.* In addition, Public Law 280, passed
during the same session, assigned full civil and criminal jurisdiction over
Indians to five specified states and opened the way for other states to do like-
wise.> The Florida Indians—including the Miccosukees living in the lower
Everglades and along the Tamiami Trail—appeared on the list of tribes to be
terminated but avoided that fate as a result of the strong resistance of the
Indian people and their Florida supporters.5 Profoundly shaken by their near-
termination experience, the Indians living on federal reservations in Florida
formally organized as the Seminole Tribe of Florida in 1957.7

On 8 July 1970 President Richard M. Nixon sent a message to Congress
calling for the end of termination and announcing a new federal policy of
Indian self-determination.® However, it is widely understood that this concept
did not originate with the Nixon administration; rather it gestated within the
American Indian community’s struggle against termination. Peter Iverson
argues that Indian communities established the basis for self-determination
during the darkest years of the termination era.” Although the Eisenhower
administration tacitly disavowed the policy as early as 1958, Congress
continued to express a sentiment for termination well into the 1960s, and it
remained a priority early in the Kennedy and Johnson administrations. Vine
Deloria claims that the National Congress of American Indians (NCAI)
coined the term self-determination in 1966—perhaps appropriated would be
more accurate—to counter Secretary of the Interior Stewart Udall’s efforts to
perpetuate termination.!0 In time the “Great Society” provided Indian tribes
an opportunity to run their own community-based programs, and President
Johnson himself embraced the idea of Indian self-determination in a 1968
message to Congress titled “The Forgotten Americans.”!! Nevertheless, histo-
rians of Indian policy have frequently accepted the Nixon pronouncement as
a symbolic point of demarcation between the philosophy of assimilation and
a new federal policy of allowing Indian tribes maximum control.
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As with so many aspects of the Nixon administration, there remains a
scholarly controversy over the extent of the president’s involvement and his
motivation in setting a new direction for Indian policy. This controversy was
clearly prefigured in two studies during the 1980s, by Emma R. Gross and Jack
D. Forbes, that examined Indian policy during the Nixon years and came to
strikingly different conclusions. The major premise of Gross’s study is that
during the 1970s there was a liberal shift in federal policy making that allowed
all Indian constituency interests to become well represented in major legisla-
tion. She identified two themes that made this possible. First, significant
public officials and academics recognized that Indians had been mistreated
and were sympathetic to tribal aspirations for self-determination, and that
paved the way for political action. Second, a broad national support for
minority rights developed out of the black civil rights movement, which was at
its apogee in the 1960s. This support was accompanied by a backlash against
the Vietnam War, with its implied neocolonialism, that developed into a more
general distrust of government by significant segments of the population. In
this context American Indian issues moved to the forefront of the nation’s
social consciousness.

Gross suggests that Nixon had strong personal and political interests in
riding this tide and issuing his Indian self-determination message. He
needed to refurbish his anti-minority image and dim any association with the
termination policies of the Eisenhower administration prior to the 1972 elec-
tion. The president also shared the Indian value of local community control,
which was generally consistent with Republican principles. Also, there was
Nixon’s Quaker background and often-expressed admiration for his college
football coach, who was a Native American. Whatever his reasons, the presi-
dent’s message made it clear that federal Indian policy would no longer be
paternalistic, but rather the government would work with tribes to define the
trust relationship. It pointed out the harmful effects of termination and
called for Congress to repeal the policy expressed in HCR 108 of 1953. On
this point Gross believes, “President Nixon’s unprecedented disavowal of the
termination policy significantly stands alone as the clearest, least compro-
mised, rejection of this policy to date.”!2 Finally, the president introduced a
list of legislative and bureaucratic reforms that would further the goal of
Indian self-determination.

Although there were some legislative successes, such as the restoration of
Blue Lake to the Taos Pueblo and the still controversial Alaska Native Claims
Act of 1971, most of Nixon’s proposals stalled on Capitol Hill. Gross is rather
benign in her assessment that the Nixon administration was sincere in its
policy pronouncements and believes that failure to enact reforms which
would have treated Indian communities like local governments was due in
great part to Democratic congressional resistance to a Republican president.
Nevertheless, most of the president’s proposals had been passed by 1975. As
to the question of whether Nixon himself or the White House staff was
responsible for formulating the 1970 message, she wrote, “In an important
sense the question of how much of the Nixon policy was Nixon’s or that of
his creative and zealous staff, is moot. The President’s willingness to back his
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staff’s initiatives . . . made it possible for them to act boldly, and with as much
confidence, as they did.”1?

Forbes’s analysis of Nixon policy is less forgiving. Taking the view that
“most Indians did not look favorably on the election of Richard Nixon,”!4 he
details the problems faced by the administration that took office in 1969. They
began with the selection of Walter Hickel, former governor of Alaska and a
friend of big oil, who, as secretary of the Interior, appeared opposed to Indian
interests. This did nothing to allay the suspicions of Native America, and one
immediate response was the occupation of Alcatraz Island by a group of Indian
activists. Therefore the choice of Louis R. Bruce, a Mohawk-Sioux and a
Republican from New York, as commissioner of Indian affairs was designed to
place an Indian in charge of implementing the Nixon policies. Bruce put
together a team of seasoned BIA officials who were Indian and committed to
devolving control to the tribes. A conservative “Old Guard” in the BIA and
Interior Department along with congressional allies would oppose them.

Forbes views Nixon’s message not as a triumph of new policy but rather as
the first stage in a battle between “liberal” elements within the administration
and the “Old Guard.” The small cadre of liberals at the White House, led by
Leonard Garment (Nixon’s former law associate and special assistant for
minority affairs) and Bradley Patterson (Garment’s assistant for Indian
matters) fought for reform using the report of the newly reconstituted
National Council on Indian Opportunity (NCIO). However, this liberal
triumph was shortlived. “On January 26, 1971 President Nixon urged
Congress to act on his Indian proposals, but the appointment of Rogers C. B.
Morton as Sec. of the Interior set the stage for comeback of the ‘Old Guard’
in the BIA/Interior.”’ Many Interior officials remained aligned with water,
mineral, and timber interests that had access to Indian resources, while old-
line BIA bureaucrats who opposed any change from management of Indian
affairs to a service role were positioned to veto proposals by Bruce and his
team. Thus Forbes believes Nixon’s rhetoric was contradicted by administra-
tive actions designed to contain Indian militancy while continuing the
exploitation of Indian resources.

Although Bruce regained nominal policy control prior to the 1972 elec-
tion, the occupation of the BIA building by Indian militants that November,
plus National Tribal Chairman’s Association lobbying, returned the “Old
Guard” to power and ended his effectiveness; he was replaced as commis-
sioner in 1973. In concluding an assessment of the 1969-72 period, Forbes
states, “Commissioner Bruce had suggested on several occasions that the
commissioner should be elected by Indian people. He, and some of his ‘new
team,” may have hoped for the genuine strengthening of tribal governments
but it would appear that the rest of Nixon’s people never did actually believe
in what most Indians meant by self-determination, which is the creation of
democratic self-governing communities.”’6 But he added, “If the Nixon
people score low marks it must also be noted that their scores were no lower
than those of the Kennedy, Johnson, Ford and Carter Indian Affairs staffs.”7

Members of the Nixon staff charged with formulating the president’s
message to Congress recall it as a complex undertaking. Bradley J. Patterson



A Miccosukee Prelude to the 1975 Indian Self-Determination Act 5

Jr., who “handled the nuts and bolts of Native American policy,”!® believes
there were multiple origins for the idea of Indian self-determination. In 1970
Patterson and Garment met with a number of individuals and groups that had
long urged self-determination. Most influential was the NCIO, a holdover
agency from the Johnson era chaired by Vice President Spiro Agnew, with
Robert Robertson as executive director. Included among the NCIO members
were Alvin Josephy, whose 1969 report on Indian affairs later appeared as a
chapter in Red Power: The American Indian’s Fight for Freedom; and Edgar Cahn,
author of Our Brother’s Keeper: The Indian in White America, which exposed BIA
weaknesses.!? Another legacy from the previous administration was the Office
of Economic Opportunity (OEO) antipoverty program in which local
communities and groups organized themselves to manage and run their own
social service programs. “I think,” said Patterson, “that is where the idea of
Indian self-determination got started—and Cahn and company were ener-
getic and committed messengers. Some of the Indian representatives on the
NCIO, especially LaDonna Harris, were leaders with this message (and her
husband was a Senator).”20

When Nixon’s domestic policy aide, John Erlichman, asked senior staff
what legislative initiatives the president should undertake in 1970, Patterson
recalls that “Leonard and I promptly suggested an initiative on Native
American issues. Erlichman and the President bought that idea immediately
and Garment was charged with the rather major task of doing the staff work
for a Special Message to Congress for delivery some time during 1970.72!
Patterson credits Barbara Green Kilberg, a White House Fellow and assistant to
Erlichman, and Erlichman himself, with crucial support for the policy. There
were further consultative efforts with the NCIO, Commissioner Louis Bruce,
and members of the Indian bar in Washington such as Jerry Straus. When these
efforts jelled, the raw information was given to one of Nixon’s principal speech
writers, Lee Huebner, who put the first draft of the message together with the
assistance of Pat Moynihan. Patterson also confirmed the president’s commit-
ment to the process. “The concept of self-determination fitted Nixon’s own
ideas to a “I’—I suppose it could be said that the strengthening of local
governments and shifting responsibility and authority away from Washington
were good Republican notions, but it must be very strongly emphasized that
none of us—Garment or me or Robertson or Erlichman or Nixon—couched
this reform in partisan terms. These were reforms that desperately needed
enactment—and we looked for—and received—bipartisan support, e.g. from
[Oklahoma senator] Fred Harris and many other Democrats.”2?

There was a tendency among pro-Indian activists to view the White House
and BIA as incapable of supporting self-determination. Critics such as Philip
S. Deloria have questioned whether Nixon really understood or intended the
consequences that followed, while Alvin Josephy called the 1970 message
“largely rhetoric.”? But as George Castile notes, “The Nixon policies set forth
in 1970 seem to have simply eluded the notice of many. . . . Vine Deloria for
one, entirely ignored the 1970 presidential statement on Indian policy in his
account of Indian militancy, Behind the Trail of Broken Treaties (1974).”2* In any
case, BIA officials in Washington were not very well prepared to implement
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the new self-determination policy. Moreover, the tribes had to stretch them-
selves to comprehend what it meant and were hesitant to go out on a limb.

Philip Deloria implies that there was a residual bitterness between tribal
governments and the BIA stemming from direct infusions of OEO funds
under the Great Society programs of the 1960s that bypassed the BIA bureau-
cracy.? If not bitterness, there was a concern among officials such as
Commissioner Philleo Nash and his associate commissioner, James Officer,
who were interested in promoting strong tribal governments. In a study of
BIA policy during the 1960s George Roth found that “probably the single
strongest focus of the Nash administration [1961-66] was on economic devel-
opment, with education and employment training being given a lot of atten-
tion as well. Extensive review was made of the means of facilitating
development of resources on reservations. This was in part intended to give
tribal governments a strong economic base. Efforts to strengthen tribal
governments were to a significant degree focused on developing their
capacity to handle financial and economic matters, i.e., to support economic
development.” Moreover, “the context in which these policies and programs
were developed was an era when tribal resources were very limited, tribal
budgets generally tiny, and tribal bureaucracies limited or nonexistent. Tribal
chairmen and council members were part-time or completely unpaid.”26 Thus
the infusion of OEO funds set up alternative power centers that frequently
were at variance with both elected tribal officials and the BIA bureaucracy.??
Nevertheless, with federal poverty program funds waning by 1970, the tribes
were again largely dependent on federal largess funneled through the Bureau
of Indian Affairs. It would take courageous tribal leaders to step forward and
test the waters on the potentially volatile issue of self-determination.

WHY THE MICCOSUKEES?

The small, isolated Miccosukee tribe had always been a risk-taker. Even with
the threat of termination looming the Miccosukees adamantly maintained
their independence as a people; they wanted nothing to do with the federal
government. This was brought out dramatically in Washington and Florida
hearings on the Seminole termination bill. During that period Buffalo Tiger
emerged on the national scene as a spokesman for the Miccosukee Council
before congressional committees and at the state capitol in Tallahassee. At age
thirty-four Tiger was not a hereditary leader; rather, he was selected by the
traditional tribal elders because of his ability to speak English and because he
had lived and worked among white people in Miami.

At a 1954 Washington hearing on the Seminole termination bill Tiger
expressed the view that Miccosukees were opposed to any government action
that would impair their existing way of life in the Everglades. Senator George
Smathers of Florida, a member of the Joint Indian Affairs Subcommittee,
sought to identify conditions under which the Miccosukees would accept
termination. He asked if they would object if the government assured them
that their land would not be stolen, if their land was placed in a corporation
for the benefit of all their people. When Tiger demurred, Smathers asked,
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“You say we should do nothing. Is that what you are saying, to leave everything
as it is?” Tiger replied calmly, “It would be easier for you I imagine.”28
Smathers never convinced Buffalo Tiger that the bill could protect his people
by vesting title to the land in the Indians themselves. Then Senator Arthur
Watkins of Utah—the most ardent exponent of Indian termination—
proposed the idea that Indians would have ownership of the land, something
that their children could inherit. He totally missed the point that Miccosukees
believed they already had a right to the land through treaties and prior usage;
at that point they had no interest in the concept of property in severalty. “I will
tell you now,” Tiger stated, “I am pretty sure my people won’t like that. . . .
This bill you are speaking about is just a bad thing for the Seminoles.”?

The Miccosukees—often called “Trail Indians” because their Everglades
camps were near a cross-state highway called the Tamiami Trail—are closely
related by language, lineage, and culture to the Seminoles who live on federal
reservations in Florida. Yet, despite strong government urging, they refused to
be included in the Seminole tribe when it received federal recognition in 1957.
By the late 1950s a faction headed by Buffalo Tiger broke with the medicine
men who traditionally led the Miccosukees and shunned contact with the
federal government. Tiger’s group, advised by the aggressive Miami attorney
Morton Silver, recognized that they needed federal recognition as a separate
tribe and had to secure land of their own if they were to remain independent.
Although the state of Florida chartered the small tribe in 1957, the BIA was
adamantly opposed to recognizing another tribe. After protracted negotiations
failed, Buffalo Tiger took a bold move by going to Cuba to meet with Fidel
Castro.3? The revolutionary Cuban government formally recognized what it
called the “Miccosukee Seminole Tribe” and even offered the members
possible asylum in Cuba. Alarmed by the prospect of a native minority
consorting with the communist dictator and the propaganda bonanza this
would provide in the struggle for Third World loyalties during the Cold War,
the Department of State reportedly put pressure on the BIA to grant recogni-
tion to the Miccosukees quickly. Although both federal and state authorities
quickly contacted Buffalo Tiger and promised recognition, there was foot
dragging at the BIA for more than eighteen months. In 1961 the new commis-
sioner, Philleo Nash, reinvigorated the process and sent a BIA expert to deter-
mine how the Miccosukees could be organized. In the process a dissident
group, encouraged by attorney Morton Silver, who had switched loyalty, chal-
lenged Buffalo Tiger for the right to organize the Miccosukee tribe. Eventually
the bureau determined that Tiger’s group had the strongest following and
allowed it to develop a constitution and bylaws; the Miccosukee Tribe of
Indians of Florida received federal recognition in January 1962.31 Buffalo Tiger
was elected tribal chairman and held that position for twenty-three years.

The nascent tribal organization struggled for the first eight years of its
existence.?? There was minimal BIA support for an elementary school, but
lack of funds severely limited development opportunities. Miccosukees had
some oil exploration lease fees from the state of Florida and received Great
Society funds for community development projects. It also borrowed from a
BIA revolving fund to establish a restaurant and service station on the
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Tamiami Trail. A succession of Indian agents were both paternalistic and
insensitive to Miccosukee needs. Moreover, the Miccosukee agency was
located at Homestead, a town some forty miles from the tribal population
center along the Tamiami Trail. Frustrated at this treatment and anxious to
move his people forward economically and socially, Buffalo Tiger saw the
1970 Nixon pronouncement as an opportunity to be taken. What he needed
was legal assistance to present his case in Washington.

DYNAMICS OF THE NEGOTIATIONS

S. Bobo Dean is a native Floridian whose career reflects a passionate dedica-
tion to seeking justice for American Indian tribes. He holds degrees from Yale
and Oxford University as a Rhodes Scholar and is a graduate of the Yale Law
School.?3 In 1965 Dean joined the Washington office of a New York law firm
then known as Strasser, Spielberg, Fried, Frank, and Kampelman to work on
Indian issues. The firm’s Washington office was founded by the legendary
Felix Cohen, a seminal figure in redefining tribal sovereignty during the New
Deal and author of the definitive Handbook of Federal Indian Law.3* Dean
became closely associated with another notable figure in Indian law, Arthur
Lazarus (best known for his work with Sioux land claims), who assigned him
to work with the Miccosukees.®> The Association on American Indian Affairs
(AAIA), a leading national Indian rights group, had long supported the
Miccosukees in their struggle to obtain land and recognition. In 1970 the
executive director of the AAIA, Bill Byler, informed Lazarus and Dean that
Buffalo Tiger wanted to take over BIA services, primarily the Miccosukee
school. This issue was raised just prior to the Nixon statement on Indian self-
determination and received strong backing from a group identified as the
“Young Turks” of the BIA—Bill King,*® Ernie Stevens Sr.,37 and Alexander
(Sandy) MacNabb3—who worked under Commissioner Bruce and were
widely recognized as a cadre committed to furthering tribal self-government.
In this respect they perpetuated the progressive approach initiated in the
1960s by Philleo Nash and James Officer.?

During a 1998 interview Bobo Dean shared a file of documents with me
and recounted how negotiations for a comprehensive Miccosukee contract
unfolded:

As of 1970 there was no situation in which an Indian tribe had entered
into a contract to run all of the federal programs provided through
BIA. There were two instances I can recall that were supposed to
reflect the new policy of allowing tribes to run those programs that the
BIA typically do. There had been in the statutes since the nineteenth
century a provision allowing the BIA employees to work under tribal
direction. It was an old statute almost never used. In two instances, at
the pueblo of Zuni and the Tlingit and Haida, that had been utilized.
From the bureau point of view that was their great breakthrough, that
they were allowing the tribal chairman to give direction to the BIA
superintendent. That was one option to achieve what the tribe wanted.
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In looking into that, I discovered that there were many who felt that
was a phony, that it was not real self-determination. I do not know that
in terms of my personal knowledge, but I heard that. We decided in
consultation with Mr. Tiger and the Business Council simply to submit
a proposal to contract for everything that could be contracted, which
would be primarily the school but, also, there was resource manage-
ment and some other small programs. We also proposed to contract
for the salary they were paying the superintendent and pay Buffalo to
administer the programs.40

Dean was quick to acknowledge the support and encouragement that the
Miccosukee tribe received from Commissioner Bruce’s progressive team
within the BIA:

I'want to mention three individuals whom I regard as being key in this,
what really was an epic-making new initiative. Bill King, Ernie Stevens,
Sr., and Sandy MacNabb were, among a few others, described as the
Young Turks in the BIA under Louie Bruce. . . . They were looking for
ways to turn a new leaf and really allow tribal governments to function
as governments. I called Bill King and described what the Miccosukees
wanted to do, and he told me “this is just what the Nixon administra-
tion is thinking of; we are about to send a message.” That was Nixon’s
message to Congress in 1970. It was just about to be signed off. They
were going to propose to Congress that any tribe that wishes can take
over and operate the programs within, I think, 90 or 120 days, some
specified period. They were delighted that a tribe was interested in
doing this and Bill would work with us. [It was accomplished] with the
help of Bill King, MacNabb, and Stevens, all of whom got involved at
some point. (Dean interview)

In December 1970 Commissioner Bruce advised Tiger that the
Miccosukee proposal was sound and promised that the bureau would
complete its examination on receipt of certain information from the
Miccosukee Indian Agency; Bruce also requested a copy of the Miccosukee
General Council resolution authorizing Tiger to sign a contract with the BIA,
which was provided. Dean pressed the tribe’s position, and on 15 January
1971 Anthony Lincoln, a Navajo area director who was acting commissioner
(Bruce was out of town) wrote a letter advising Tiger of the bureau’s willing-
ness to enter into an agreement for tribal operation of the Miccosukee
Agency, Miccosukee Indian Day School, and related activities.*! Dean believes
the letter from Lincoln was a key document in the negotiations. Based on the
conditions set forth in Lincoln’s letter, a proposed agreement was prepared
and submitted in February 1971, only to confront bureaucratic objections that
necessitated numerous revisions. When the tribe sat down and began to nego-
tiate terms that spring, there was one obstacle after another. This must be seen
in the context of returning the “Old Guard” to power. Two strong supporters
of the Miccosukee position came under immediate pressure. In March of
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1971 Ernest Stevens announced his resignation as director of community
services, and by June—shortly after the Miccosukee contract was signed—
authority over contracting with Indian tribes was taken away from Alexander
MacNabb.#?

The associate solicitor for Indian affairs asked whether there was legal
authority for comprehensive contracting. He reasoned that Congress would
have to pass legislation and that until it was enacted, the contracting could not
take place. The Miccosukee position was that if it is legal to have procurement
contracts with the tribes to run police departments, why can’t they do every-
thing? Dean argued there is an area of things that cannot be contracted, so-
called inherent federal functions, but most things that are done at the agency
level are not in that category. So, why not contract everything in the agency?
The area office would pull those things that cannot be contracted back.
Associate Solicitor Charles Soller took the position that there was no authority
to contract with a tribe, but Miccosukees could do it if they relied on the
authority of the Johnson-O’Malley Act, which had been passed in the 1930s,
and authorized contracts by the bureau with private corporations to provide
educational and social welfare services to tribes. It really was not a self-deter-
mination act. It was to let the bureau go out and contract with some, maybe
non-Indian, private entities to provide those services. But Soller said that if the
tribe had a nonprofit corporation the contract would be legal.

Rather than fighting the point, Dean recommended to Tiger that the
tribe should simply form a corporation. Tribes have the inherent authority to
charter corporations that are distinct legal entities from the tribe. The solic-
itor had already ruled in favor of that position. So a charter was drafted for
the Miccosukee Corporation, and it was incorporated or chartered by the
business council under its inherent authority as a tribal government. The
charter was brought to the associate solicitor, and he said that was fine. An
opinion by the associate solicitor for procurement and patents also said there
was no legal authority to do this, but after a discussion he was turned around.
There were also problems with the Interior Department, especially from the
staff of Harrison Loesch, who was at that time the assistant secretary above
the commissioner. The Office of Survey and Review questioned whether
there was legal authority to do this. Although the Miccosukees had negoti-
ated an agreement with the BIA, they learned that unless the authorizing and
appropriations committees of Congress approved, the bureau would not
honor the commitment that had been made in the letter signed by Mr.
Lincoln. The bureaucrats had concluded that Congress did not want them to
act. Dean recalled:

I became increasingly irritated. Mr. Tiger, having been faced with this
sort of thing from the government all of his life, was very patient. . . .
I keep referring to him as Mr. Tiger. That arose out of my concern that
when we met with government officials, they would always call him
either Buffalo or Buff, as though they were great personal buddies.
That struck me as inappropriate, so I felt, as his attorney, I would
always call him Mr. Tiger. The unfortunate result of that is that he took
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up the practice of calling me Mr. Dean! I think we are still on that,
although I feel that I know him well enough now to call him Buffalo.
But in the context of negotiations by the tribal Chairman of the sover-
eign Indian tribal government, I felt that the way they behaved
towards him was inappropriate, and I tried to make that clear. (Dean
interview)

At one point Dean expressed concern that the Miccosukee tribe had been
placed in an awkward position by the absence of clear policy to implement the
president’s announced goal of contracting with Indian tribes for BIA services
and threatened to have his client withdraw the proposal altogether. Bureau
officials supportive of the Miccosukee contract pleaded for more time to work
things out and dissuaded him from doing so, but there remained stiff oppo-
sition. Finally, in total frustration the attorney confided to Tiger:

I am now convinced that what we have encountered over the past few
months is not merely a state of confusion and disorganization, but
internecine strife within the Bureau and the Department so bitter that
our efforts may have been wasted and that further negotiation with
the Bureau at this time is in my view absolutely fruitless unless the
President’s policy is promptly implemented by the execution of this
contract. . . .

There are, indeed, within the Bureau and within the Department
dedicated individuals who are sincerely trying to improve the lot of
Indian people. However, we are dealing here with a bureaucratic
faction which has not accepted the idea that Indian people should
have a share in the determination of their future, a clique which is
determined to keep its own power and privileges, and which views the
administration of Indian affairs from the standpoint of its own selfish
interests and not with a view to the improvement of the life of Indian
people. . . . I sincerely believe that the present Commissioner of
Indian Affairs is trying to do a good job and that the problem is that
he may not be able to break the power of the little faction of bureau-
crats whose interest is not in the welfare of Indian people, but in their
own jobs and influence. As you know, the proposal which you have
made to the Bureau is completely consistent with the Indian policy of
the Nixon Administration set by the President himself. Unfortunately,
the Administration may not be able to command sufficient loyalty
from the bureaucracy to carry through on the promises held out in
the President’s statement.43

Evidently writing this lengthy letter served as a catharsis for Dean, and he
returned to the fray with vigor, spending the next two months lobbying key
members of the Florida congressional delegation and other Washington
figures. Then on 1 April 1971 Commissioner Bruce informed Dean that the
Interior Department had instructed him not to enter into a contract with the
Miccosukees notwithstanding the favorable decisions by the solicitor’s office
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and favorable recommendations from the BIA program staff. Incensed at this
news, Dean immediately fired off letters of protest to significant government
figures—with positive results.*

Dean later pointed to James A. Haley (Dem., 7th District) as a prime
mover in securing a favorable outcome:

I think a key was Haley, the Congressman from Sarasota. He had been
the Ringling Brothers manager and had been an acrobat, I believe, a
fascinating person—he met with us, was convinced it was a good idea,
and wrote a really sharp letter to the Department [of the Interior] that
they ought to get on with us. He was chairman of the committee that
was responsible for Indian affairs, so he was a key player. Ultimately,
there was a lot of congressional pressure, and the committees approved
it, which was helpful even though their approval was not required.
Now, in all this negotiation, basically, the main program was the school.
That is where most of the money went. We had started in the summer
of 1970, before the school year started. We negotiated up until May and
when the contract was finally signed and put in effect, I believe it was
like three or four days of the school year were left. But they did go
through with it. They turned over the programs to the tribe, and the
Tribe has operated all the bureau services from 1971 to the present.*>

In July of 1970 the Zuni tribe took over direction of BIA employees,
utilizing congressional authorization from an act of 30 June 1834. Therefore,
Zuni is often cited as the first example of Indian self-determination through
contracting. However, as Dean explained it, basically what made the philos-
ophy of the Miccosukee contract distinct from those at Zuni, Tlingit, and
Haida, was the view that if the tribe was paying the employees, then it would
have control over what was going on. As long as the employees were federal,
they would worry about the federal position. If the Miccosukee tribe could
hire and fire, it would really control the programs.

THE INDIAN PERSPECTIVE

Buffalo Tiger had his own recollections about the struggle for self-determina-
tion. In the beginning the tribe didn’t know how to run the schools or any
other business and had no funds; it was totally dependent on the government.
Yet Tiger always believed the tribe would eventually take control of its affairs.
One major obstacle to closing the Miccosukee Agency and transferring its
functions to the tribe was determining how to organize the school curriculum.
Another was deciding what to do about BIA employees:

We didn’t know too much about running the school or any business,
and of course we didn’t have any funds to do that. The Bureau seemed
to have funds to operate the school and pay the teachers and whatever.
But we had a lot of concerns about how the school should work.
Particularly my people—not me but my people—didn’t want to see
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Miccosukee youngsters learning strictly English and never speaking
their own language. . . . So we decided half-a-day in English, and
Miccosukee the other half of the day; in other words, we split the day
so it wouldn’t just be learning English because we realize Miccosukees
should keep their culture and language. . . .

As far as contracting the school and programs, not only the school
but everything—self-determination we called it—we had an idea that’s
what we were [eventually] going to do when we accepted the consti-
tution and bylaws. We didn’t want the Bureau running our affairs. We
didn’t want the Bureau telling us what to do. We were old enough, and
we have been here long enough, so let us run it ourselves. If we make
mistakes, then we make mistakes.

Commissioner Louis Bruce—he is part Indian—approved that, and
we both signed a contract agreement. . . . The paper I signed people
called “buy Indian,” and that’s when we had to let the Bureau people
[at the Miccosukee Agency] know either they were going to be
working for us or they could go to other reservations for a job if they
wanted to. They had a chance to keep their office by working for us.
They didn’t want that. There used to be an office in Homestead, and
the Bureau said go ahead and take the furniture and everything there,
and if the employees do not want to work with you, let them go back
where they came from. And we did that; they closed down, and we
took over.

Everybody knows about contracting, but some tribes didn’t want to
do that. I didn’t have it easy. Really, it was not easy. The Cherokees
didn’t want me to do it. The Seminoles didn’t want it. Nobody wanted
what I was doing. I didn’t see how the other reservations like Cherokee
and Choctaw and big tribes have the Bureau running affairs for them;
some of them liked it that way, but we didn’t. We never lived under the
Bureau and we didn’t want it.46

Bobo Dean confirmed the significance of Buffalo Tiger’s role in opening
the way for other tribes to pursue contracting with the federal government.
He is convinced that the success of the Miccosukee contract made it easier to
pass PL 93-638.47 Moreover, it was not a case where attorneys drafted all the
documents and tribal leaders merely rubber-stamped them. Dean took his
directions from the Indian tribal leadership. Tiger, despite his lack of formal
education, exercised wise leadership and had a clear vision of what his people
wanted and needed. Some officials thought they were not going to be able to
handle it and would remain dependent on the BIA. But—due largely to the
wisdom of Tiger and the tribal business council—the Miccosukees did not
employ tribal members who lacked the skills needed at that time. They
brought in some non-Indians, and have continued to employ non-Indians,
when they felt tribal members lacked the requisite skills for a job. The handle
they have on the non-Indians, however, is that they can hire and fire them,
and they have fired people when they did not do what the tribe wanted, and
sometimes when they just got tired of them.
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There was always a suspicion in some quarters that the Miccosukee tribe,
because of the low level of educational attainment among the tribal leader-
ship, was being manipulated by attorneys and consultants. Dean vigorously
denies this:

What I can say is that I, meticulously, I think he would agree with this,
followed his direction. I of course cannot speak Miccosukee. Although
more Miccosukees speak English today, in the 1960s and 1970s many
older Miccosukees were not fluent in English, and Buffalo Tiger was
the person who communicated their wishes. The contracting was, in
fact, a political issue. It was Buffalo who led the Tribe and persuaded
the Tribe. In an election, I think in the early 1970s, there was an oppo-
sition and the vote came out for Buffalo, which was a sanction from
the Tribe for going forward. So, I would have to say that Buffalo is far
wiser and far more effective than many people that I have worked with
in Indian affairs, many of whom are federal and some tribal officials,
or folks, and who are far more fluent in English than he is. I worked
closely enough with him to be absolutely convinced of that. (Dean
interview)

From 1971 to 1975 the Miccosukee tribe, together with tribal contract
schools, were the pioneers in practicing self-determination through contract.
On the Navajo Reservation a number of local school boards contracted their
schools; at Pine Ridge and around the country were other schools. Again, that
was a situation in which the money went to the tribe or tribal organization.
They would hire the employees, sometimes using the Intergovernmental
Personnel Act assignments so the people would stay federal. Meanwhile, the
administration’s request languished in Congress, partly because of the tribal
feeling that the Nixon administration’s proposal was too revolutionary. It did
not allow the BIA to refuse to contract even if it was convinced that the tribe
was totally incapable of administering the program. It was entirely up to the
tribe. That was the “Young Turk” approach, but it was about to change:

Calvin Brice drafted a bill, which would eliminate contracting prob-
lems, and the concerns in the Department that this was beyond what
they had authority to do. That bill was sent as a compromise. That
would have basically authorized, expressly, what we were doing at
Miccosukee. [It was] the key to the Indian Self-determination legisla-
tion, as it was finally adopted, and I cannot take credit for this. I
reviewed and made suggestions and consulted with Mr. Tiger about
how we should get this legislation done. Another attorney for the
Ramah [Navajo] school board, Mike Gross—the Ramah school board
was a contract school—proposed in his testimony that, where the bill
said the Bureau of Indian Affairs was authorized to contract with
tribes, they change it to authorized and directed. With that direction
came a provision allowing the bureau to decline to contract based on
specific standards. To me, that has been the key to the success of 638,
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as it became known, Public Law 93-638. . . . That legislation was passed
in 1975 and became the Indian Self-Determination Act. I think the
contracts that took place prior to 1975, the Miccosukee Tribe’s
contract and the various school contracts, were the precedent and led
the way in that. That makes Buffalo’s role in self-determination very
important. (Dean interview)

Evidently there was no consensus among tribal leaders concerning the
advisability of accepting responsibility for conducting their own affairs free of
BIA supervision. After years of federal paternalism many Indians were hesi-
tant, while others suspected it was a ploy to further termination policies.
Buffalo Tiger was never hesitant; once given the legal opportunity to dump
the Indian Agency and contract directly with Washington, the Miccosukees
seized it. Furthermore, the soft-spoken Tiger was a conciliatory and moder-
ating influence among Indian leaders in the Southeast. Following passage of
the Indian Self-Determination Act in 1975, there was a meeting at the Eastern
Area Office to go over proposed regulations. Philip Martin, chairman of the
Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians and an outspoken proponent of self-
determination, criticized the bureau for trying to limit tribal rights, while
John Crow from the Eastern Band of Cherokees roundly denounced the act
and said that this is just like the termination legislation and that no consulta-
tion had taken place. He called it the Indian Self-Termination Act and didn’t
want anything to do with it. Two strong leaders were taking opposite positions,
and the meeting was getting tense. At that point Buffalo Tiger got up and said,
“Now, I have great respect for my good friend Chief Martin. I really think that
everything he said was very good, for his tribe. And I have a lot of respect for
my good friend, Chief Crow, and I think everything he said was good for his
tribe. The thing that we need to be clear on is that each tribe has the right to
follow its own way.”#8 This speech calmed the consultation meeting. The point
gradually emerged that a tribe did not have to contract if it did not want to.
This was not something being forced on tribes, but it would give tribes an
option to contract. Dean concluded:

I have watched him, in many instances, play that kind of role which, to
me, was impressive in terms of his understanding of the people that he
was dealing with, in what I would describe as wisdom which has very
little to do with formal education. I think of the old expression about
“educated fools.” People can have many degrees but not really have a
perception about the people they are dealing with or not be able to
communicate effectively. The Tribe has gone on. It has always been in
the forefront of self-determination and played a role in the amend-
ments to the act to strengthen it, and in the development of better
regulations. It continues to do that. (Dean interview)
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CONCLUSION

The tenacity of Buffalo Tiger and his tribe, with the support of Bobo Dean,
Commissioner Bruce, and the “Young Turks,” helped pave the way for
American Indian tribes to assume control over their own affairs following
passage of the 1975 Indian Self-Determination Act. In the ensuing thirty years
since that initial contract with the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Miccosukee
tribe has developed in its own unique way. The people have benefited from
educational and social programs developed with federal funds sent directly to
the business council. Miccosukee health care benefited significantly from a
health clinic set up under a contract with the Indian Health Service.# The
Miccosukee Day School organized a community-centered curriculum and used
bilingual education funds to develop materials in both Miccosukee and
English languages.’® In 1976, utilizing Law Enforcement Assistance
Administration funds, the Miccosukees established a public safety department
to provide police and fire protection on the reservation; they also initiated a
tribal court to exercise jurisdiction over civil offenses committed on reserva-
tion land.5! This was in marked contrast to the Seminole tribe of Florida, which
retained a federal Indian agency and opted not to set up a tribal court even
after it was permitted to do so by Florida law. However, both Florida tribes
would eventually prosper economically from high-stakes bingo emporiums on
their reservations.’? These gaming activities have withstood challenges in
federal court and perhaps represent the ultimate exercise of self-determina-
tion within defined—although rapidly evolving—legal boundaries.>® In retro-
spect, though, it all began with the 1971 Miccosukee struggle to secure a
contract that set the course for other tribes. Buffalo Tiger, now eighty-five years
of age and a venerated tribal elder, remains proud of that legacy.
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